
 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

  

DEAN ISABELLA ) 

 Plaintiff, )   JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 v. ) 

  )   C.A. No.  

THE TOWN OF SEEKONK through its Treasurer ) 

CHRISTINE N. DEFONTES; and ) 

TOWN OF SEEKONK BOARD OF SELECTMEN )  

through its Chairman, JUSTIN SULLIVAN   ) 

 Defendants ) 

 )  

 

COMPLAINT 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The Plaintiff, Dean Isabella has filed the instant case seeking damages and/or equitable 

relief resulting from the acts and omissions of the Defendants as hereafter defined. In this action, 

Plaintiff seeks claims against the various Defendants for damages and/or equitable relief as may 

be necessary, resulting from deprivations of his various statutory and constitutional rights as 

afforded by the Federal Constitution, Massachusetts Declaration of Rights-to wit-the 

Massachusetts State Constitution and by M.G.L. c. 41 § 97A, both by and through 42 U.S.C. § 

1983 and the Federal Declaratory Judgment Act as enacted under 28 U.S.C. § 2201 as well as the 

Massachusetts Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act as enacted under M.G.L. c. 231A § 1 et seq., 

as may be applicable thereto.  

Additionally, Plaintiff seeks an award of attorney’s fees and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 

1988. Finally, Plaintiff seeks damages against the Defendants under common law theories of 

breach of contract and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. 
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PARTIES 

 

1. Plaintiff, Mr. Dean Isabella (hereinafter “Plaintiff” or “Isabella” or “Chief 

Isabella”) is a Rhode Island resident, residing in Narragansett, R.I.  

2. Defendant, Town of Seekonk is a municipal body corporate incorporated under the 

laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and has a principal office located at Seekonk Town 

Hall, 100 Peck Street, Seekonk, M.A. and has been sued by and through its Treasurer, Christine 

N. DeFontes (hereinafter the “Town”). 

3. Defendant, Town of Seekonk Board of Selectmen is the chief executive officer of 

the Town of Seekonk and is sued through its Chairman, Justin Sullivan, and has a principal office 

located at Seekonk Town Hall, 100 Peck Street, Seekonk, M.A. (hereinafter, the “BOS”) 

4. Each of the aforesaid Defendants shall be referred to in their individual capacities,  

or collectively referred to as the “Defendants” or the “Town,” if and where appropriate herein. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 

5. This Court has federal subject-matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 over 

the claims for deprivations of rights secured by the United States Constitution by and through 42 

U.S.C. § 1983, and for claims for Declaratory Judgment pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201.   

6. This Court has pendant supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 over 

all other claims pleaded herein because all such claims arise out of the common nucleus of fact.  

 7. Personal jurisdiction and venue are proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1391(b)(1) because, upon belief, all of the defendants reside in Massachusetts, the Town of 

Seekonk is a Massachusetts governmental entity and, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2), because 

a substantial part of the events giving rise to Plaintiff’s claims occurred in this District. 
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

 

8.  Effective December 2, 2020, Plaintiff was hired as Chief of Police for the Town of 

Seekonk pursuant to a written “Police Chief Contract” executed between him and the Town 

(hereinafter the “Contract”).  

9. A true and accurate copy of the Contract is attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

10.    The Contract provides for a three (3) year term and expires on December 1, 2023. 

See id. at §§ 9 & 15(A). 

11. Pursuant to the Contract, the Town cannot discipline or terminate Chief Isabella 

without “just cause.” See id. at § 8.  

12. At all times material hereto, Isabella properly and duly performed all duties and 

obligations as Chief of Police for the Town.  

13. Prior to being hired by the Town, Isabella served as a police officer in the City of 

Providence, attaining the rank of Captain and thereafter, as the Assistant Director of the Rhode 

Island Department of Children, Youth and Families, Child Protective Services Division. 

14. On January 5, 2023, without notice or reason, Chief Isabella was summoned to the 

Seekonk Town Administrator’s Office. 

15. During that meeting, the Town Administrator informed Chief Isabella that he was 

being placed on paid administrative leave and advised that the BOS would be meeting on January 

18, 2023 to rescind his appointment as Chief of Police.  

16. The only reason that Chief Isabella was given for this action was that the Town 

wished to ‘proceed in a different direction’ vis a vis the Chief of Police position.    

17. On January 10, 2023, Chief Isabella received written correspondence from the 

Town Administrator entitled “Notice of Executive Session” (hereinafter the “January 10 Notice”). 
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18. A true and accurate copy of the January 10 Notice is attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 

19.  The January 10 Notice provides in relevant part as follows: 

 “Dear Mr. Isabella: 

 

As I previously advised you verbally, on Wednesday, January 18, 2023, the 

Board of Selectmen will be voting on a motion to enter Executive Session 

for the purpose of rescinding your appointment and terminating your 

employment as Chief of the Seekonk Police Department. The meeting is 

being held pursuant to the provision of Article 8, Section 9 of the Seekonk 

Town Charter[.]” Id.  

  

20. Article 8, Section 9 of the Seekonk Town Charter is entitled “Power to Rescind 

Appointments” and provides that: 

“All appointing authorities under this charter shall have the power to rescind 

appointments made by them, except appointments to the Board of Appeals 

and other quasi-judicial boards; provided that the appointee shall first have 

been served with written notice of such intent of removal, and provided 

further that the appointee shall have the right to a public hearing on his 

removal.” 

   

21. A true and accurate copy of Article 8, Section 9 of the Town’s Charter is attached 

hereto as Exhibit 3.   

22.  On January 10, 2023, the Town Administrator issued the following statement to 

Rhode Island Channel 10’s I-Team, which statement was widely reported by said media outlet that 

day: 

“The Board of Selectmen will be voting to rescind the appointment of 

Chief Isabella. We are deeply grateful for Chief Isabella’s service over the 

last two years and wish him well in his future endeavors[.]” (emphasis 

added). 

 

23. A true and accurate copy of the I-Team Report/Article is attached hereto as Exhibit 

4. 
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24. On January 18, 2023, the BOS conducted a pre-termination public hearing on 

rescinding Chief Isabella’s appointment as Chief of Police and terminating his employment with 

the Town.   

25. The BOS opened the hearing by highlighting their erroneous position the BOS is 

entitled to terminate Chief Isabella’s employment with the Town with, or without cause.   

26. The BOS presented no evidence or allegations of any wrongdoing by Chief Isabella 

that would purportedly justify his termination or the termination of his Contract. 

27. During said hearing, no findings or even so much as any discussion regarding just 

cause or cause to terminate Chief Isabella’s employment and/or Contract was had by the BOS. 

28. During said hearing, Chief Isabella made a lengthy and detailed statement to the 

BOS highlighting all of the Seekonk Police Department’s accomplishments and improvements 

made under his tenure to date.  

29. For example, Chief Isabella highlighted the following accomplishments and 

improvements (as well as others not listed below) made to the Department under his tenure: 

• Creating the Seekonk  Police Portal to digitally share important police-

related information in real time; 

 

• Instituting regular command staff and supervisors’ meetings, of which 

there had not been in over a decade;  

 

• Instituting the Officer Daily Activity report; 

  

• Creating a new call response code; 

 

• Adding a new vehicle pursuit review process to ensure safety during 

pursuit;  

 

• Adding new use-of-force investigation process to ensure compliance 

with State and Federal standards; 

 

• Assisted in drafting and working to enact the Town’s new Nuisance 

Business By-law; 
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• Requiring all supervising officers to attend supervisor liability training;  

 

• Updating the Administrative workflow and Table of Organization; 

 

• Creating a new Annual Report of the Department; 

 

• Instituting Department Operations Plans; 

 

• Helping to create the Town’s Emergency Response Plan; 

 

• Renegotiating the Crash Report, which resulted in the Town doubling 

its revenue thereunder; 

 

• Ensuring that the Department came in under budget each fiscal year, 

thereby saving the Town hundreds of thousands of dollars in costs in the 

process; 

 

• Instituting the Department Training Calendar and Detective’s Roll Call 

training;  

 

• Instituting weekly overtime and comp time reports so that the 

Department had weekly oversight over such matters;  

 

• Obtaining nearly One Million dollars in State and Federal grants; 

 

• Engaging Defensive Tactics Instructors to provide the Department with 

cutting edge de-escalation training; 

 

• Requiring field force response training be conducted by the entire 

Department, including the command staff; 

 

• Commencing the Department’s Drone Program and drafting the 

Departmental policy for the same; 

 

• Instituting a monthly equipment report; 

 

• Introducing the Flock Camera program that was recently adopted by the 

Town; 

 

• Introducing the Narcan Program; 

 

• Updating the Town’s license to sell firearms procedure to finally render 

it compliant with the laws and regulations of the Commonwealth; and 
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• Assisted in successfully negotiating the Town-Police Union Collective 

Bargaining Agreement.  

 

30. During the pre-termination hearing, Chief Isabella testified that during his first year 

as Chief of Police, he recognized staffing as a major challenge and knew that the majority of 

officers in the Department had less than six (6) years of service; and as such, he believed that it 

was a priority to create advancement opportunities for the Town’s rank and file police officers.  

31. Chief Isabella testified that in order to do so, he presented a staffing proposal(s) and 

a number of operational changes for the Department to the Town Administrator, but those 

proposals were rejected by the Town.  

32. Chief Isabella also testified that recently, he submitted a comprehensive staffing 

proposal to the Town’s Administration that included a staffing study from a Massachusetts-based 

research firm outlining the current and future staffing levels needed to serve the Town.  

33. Chief Isabella testified how the recent staffing proposal addressed the need to create 

advancement opportunities for the Department’s rank and file police officers, which would 

significantly reduce forced and replacement overtime.  

34. Chief Isabella testified that to his knowledge, the proposal discussed in Paragraphs 

32-33 still had not been read or reviewed by the Town. 

35. During the public hearing, the BOS took testimony from members of the Seekonk 

community and public at large (including residents and local religious leaders), all of whom 

praised Chief Isabella’s work in the community and implored the BOS to retain him as Chief of 

Police.    

36. Despite having no evidence or reason to terminate the Contract and despite 

overwhelming support from members of the community (including residents and religious 
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leaders), the BOS voted unanimously to rescind Chief Isabella’s appointment as Chief of Police 

and to terminate his employment with the Town.   

37. In so doing, the BOS did not deliberate and held no discussion of any kind prior to 

the vote to rescind being taken.  

38. The Town did not rescind Chief Isabella’s appointment based upon just cause. 

39. The Town did not terminate Chief Isabella’s employment with the Town based 

upon just cause.  

40. The Town’s termination of Chief Isabella’s employment and Contract does not 

advance any significant and/or legitimate public purpose. 

41. During the public hearing, the BOS failed to raise any significant and/or legitimate 

public purpose that would justify terminating Chief Isabella’s employment and Contract. 

42.  The Town has refused to compensate Chief Isabella for salary and other financial 

benefits that remain due and owing under the Contract. 

43. The Town maintains that the power to rescind as stated in Article 8, Section 9 of 

the Town’s Charter entitles it to disregard the express terms of the Contract and to terminate said 

Contract at any time, without cause.  

44. The Town maintains that Article 8, Section 9 of the Town’s Charter also entitles it 

to unilaterally deprive Chief Isabella of all remaining compensation and benefits owed under the 

Contract.  

45. The Town maintains that Article 8, Section 9 of the Town’s Charter entitles it to 

wholly disregard its contractual obligations under Chief Isabella’s Contract.   

46. The Town’s acts and omissions are violative of the United States Constitution, the 

Massachusetts Declaration of Rights, as well as M.G.L. c. 41 § 97A. 
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47. The Town’s acts and omissions constitute material breaches of the Contract.  

48. Prior to the January 18, 2023 pre-termination hearing, Chief Isabella was not given 

oral or written notice of any charges against him by the Town.  

49. Prior to the January 18, 2023 pre-termination hearing, Chief Isabella was not given 

an explanation of the Town’s evidence supporting or in any way justifying termination.  

50. To date, Chief Isabella has not been provided any of the information set forth in 

Paragraphs 48-49 of this Complaint by the Town and no such charges have been levied against 

him.  

51. To date, the only reasons that Chief Isabella has been given for his termination is 

that the Town wished to ‘go in a different direction’ with regard to the Chief’s position and that it 

has the authority to terminate without cause under the Town Charter.    

52. Chief Isabella has property rights in continuing his employment with the Town of 

Seekonk and other benefits related thereto pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Contract. 

53. The Town’s acts and omissions have deprived Chief Isabella of those property 

rights. 

54. The BOS’s January 18, 2023 pre-termination hearing was meaningless because its 

outcome was pre-ordained and/or the BOS’s bias against Chief Isabella was so severe that it 

undermined the concerns and goals of the hearing.  

55. The allegations set forth in Paragraph 54 are substantiated by the fact that the BOS: 

• Provided no evidence whatsoever that would justify terminating Chief 

Isabella; 

 

• Ignored the overwhelming support, testimony and pleas from the public 

for the Town to retain Chief Isabella as its police Chief; 
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• Ignored Chief Isabella’s lengthy explanation of the many 

accomplishments and improvements made to and by the Department 

during his tenure; 

 

• Failed to respond to testimony provided by Chief Isabella concerning 

other Departmental policies and procedures proposed by Chief Isabella 

to the Town’s Administration that were rejected or altogether ignored; 

 

• Conducted no discussion or deliberation prior to unanimously voting to 

terminate Chief Isabella; and 

 

• On January 10, 2023, eight days prior to the pre-termination hearing, 

the Town Administrator was directly quoted by local news media as 

saying “[t]he Board of Selectmen will be voting to rescind the 

appointment of Chief Isabella.” See Exhibit 4 at p. 3 (emphasis added). 

 

56. On January 18, 2023, Chief Isabella was deprived a meaningful opportunity to 

invoke the BOS’s discretion, and thus there was no possibility that a mistaken decision by the BOS 

could have been avoided. 

57. As a direct and proximate result of the Town’s acts and omissions, Chief Isabella 

has sustained significant damages, inclusive of lost compensation owed under the Contract, severe 

emotional distress, pain, suffering, mental anguish and irreparable damages to his reputation and 

psyche. 

58. As a direct and proximate result of all of the Town’s acts and omissions, Chief 

Isabella has had to undergo extensive medical treatment.    

59. As a direct and proximate result of all of the Town’s acts and omissions, Chief 

Isabella has suffered extensive personal and emotional trauma that is likely of a permanent nature 

in that the scarring may remain with him for the rest of his natural life. 

60. As a direct and proximate result of the Town’s acts and omissions, Chief Isabella 

has sustained irreparable harm.  
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COUNT I 

Against the Defendants for Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 – Violation of Article I, Section 10, 

Clause 1 of the United States Constitution, the ‘Contracts Clause’, As Applied, Pertaining 

to Article 8, Section 9 of the Seekonk Town Charter. 

 

61. Plaintiff restates and incorporates by reference the factual allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1-60 as if fully set forth herein. 

62.  Article I, Section 10, Clause 1 of the United States Constitution provides that “No 

State shall … pass any … Law impairing the Obligation of Contracts[.]”    

63. This prohibition applies to every form in which legislative power of a State is 

exerted, including municipal charters, ordinances, charters and regulations.  

64. The BOS’s rescission of Chief Isabella’s appointment as Chief of Police and 

contemporaneous termination of his employment with the Town constituted the exercise of powers 

delegated to the BOS by the Town’s Charter pursuant to Article 8 § 9 of the Town’s Charter.  

65.  The BOS’s rescission and termination of Chief Isabella’s appointment and 

employment with the Town pursuant to Article 8 § 9 of the Town Charter substantially impairs, 

and in fact, altogether deprives him of his rights and entitlements under the Contract.  

66. The BOS’s rescission and termination of Chief Isabella’s appointment and 

employment with the Town pursuant to Article 8 § 9 of the Town Charter does not serve any 

legitimate public purpose.  

67. The Town’s termination of Chief Isabella’s employment and Contract was not in 

any way reasonable or appropriate.  

68. Defendants’ acts and omissions described above have resulted in a deprivation of 

Chief Isabella’s contractual rights and entitlements under the Contract in violation of Article I, § 

10, Cl. 1 of the United States Constitution.   
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69.  As a direct and proximate result of such Defendants’ violation of his constitutional 

rights, Plaintiff, Chief Isabella has suffered substantial monetary damages, physical and mental 

injuries, irreparable damage to his reputation and other irreparable harms and damages.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Chief Isabella requests all damages provable at trial including 

compensatory, consequential, exemplary and punitive damages plus interest, costs and reasonable 

attorney fees, as well as any equitable relief as may be appropriate. 

COUNT II 

Declaratory Judgment Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201 & M.G.L. c. 231A § 1 et seq. that the 

Defendants have Violated Plaintiff’s Rights as Prescribed by Article I, Section 10, Clause 1 

of the United States Constitution, the ‘Contracts Clause’, As Applied, Pertaining to Article 

8, Section 9 of the Seekonk Town Charter. 

 

70. Plaintiff restates and incorporates by reference the factual allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1-69 as if fully set forth herein. 

71.  Article I, Section 10, Clause 1 of the United States Constitution provides that “No 

State shall … pass any … Law impairing the Obligation of Contracts[.]”    

72. This prohibition applies to every form in which legislative power of a State is 

exerted, including municipal charters, ordinances and regulations.  

73. The BOS’s rescission of Chief Isabella’s appointment as Chief of Police and 

contemporaneous termination of his employment with the Town constituted the exercise of powers 

delegated to the BOS by the Town’s Charter pursuant to Article 8 § 9 of the Town’s Charter.  

74.  The BOS’s rescission and termination of Chief Isabella’s appointment and 

employment with the Town pursuant to Article 8 § 9 of the Town Charter substantially impairs, 

and in fact, altogether deprives him of his rights and entitlements under the Contract.  
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75. The BOS’s rescission and termination of Chief Isabella’s appointment and 

employment with the Town pursuant to Article 8 § 9 of the Town Charter does not serve any 

legitimate public purpose.  

76. The Town’s termination of Chief Isabella’s employment and Contract was not in 

any way reasonable or appropriate. 

77. Defendants’ acts and omissions described above have resulted in a deprivation of 

Chief Isabella’s contractual rights and entitlements under the Contract in violation of Article I, § 

10, Cl. 1 of the United States Constitution.   

78.  As a direct and proximate result of such Defendants’ violation of his constitutional 

rights, Plaintiff, Chief Isabella has suffered substantial monetary damages, physical and mental 

injuries, irreparable damage to his reputation and other irreparable harms and damages.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Chief Isabella requests the Court issue a Declaratory Judgment 

declaring that the Defendants violated Chief Isabella’s rights as prescribed by Article I, § 10, Cl. 

1 of the United States Constitution; that the Court award all damages provable at trial including 

compensatory, consequential, exemplary and punitive damages plus interest, costs and reasonable 

attorney fees, as well as any equitable relief as may be appropriate. 

COUNT III 

Against the Defendants for Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983  – Procedural Due Process – Fifth 

and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States  

 

79.  Plaintiff restates and incorporates by reference the factual allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1-78 as if fully set forth herein. 

80.  By engaging in the conduct described above Defendants, acting under color of law, 

knowingly, intentionally, egregiously, arbitrarily, capriciously, corruptly and outrageously 

disregarded the law, violating Plaintiff’s life, liberty and property rights. 

Case 1:23-cv-10127   Document 1   Filed 01/19/23   Page 13 of 21



 

14 

 

81.  Prior to the January 18, 2023 pre-termination hearing, Chief Isabella was not given 

oral or written notice of any charges against him by the Town.  

82. Prior to the January 18, 2023 pre-termination hearing, Chief Isabella was not given 

an explanation of the Town’s evidence supporting termination.  

83. To date, Chief Isabella has not been provided any of said information by the Town 

and no such charges have been levied against him.  

84. To date, the only reasons that Chief Isabella has been given for his termination is 

that the Town wished to ‘go in a different direction’ with regard to the Chief’s position and that it 

has the authority to do so under the Town Charter.    

85. Plaintiff’s claim that his procedural due process rights were violated are further 

substantiated by the fact that during the January 18, 2023 pre-termination hearing the BOS: 

• Provided no evidence whatsoever that would justify terminating Chief 

Isabella; 

 

• Ignored the overwhelming support, testimony and pleas from the public 

for the Town to retain Chief Isabella as its police Chief; 

 

• Ignored Chief Isabella’s lengthy explanation of the many 

accomplishments and improvements made to and by the Department 

during his tenure; 

 

• Failed to respond to testimony provided by Chief Isabella of other 

Departmental policies and procedures proposed by Chief Isabella to the 

Town’s Administration that were rejected or altogether ignored; and 

 

• Conducted no discussion or deliberation prior to unanimously voting to 

terminate Chief Isabella; and additionally 

 

• On January 10, 2023, eight days prior to the pre-termination hearing, 

the Town Administrator was directly quoted by local news media as 

saying “[t]he Board of Selectmen will be voting to rescind the 

appointment of Chief Isabella.” See Exhibit 4 at p. 3 (emphasis added). 
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86. Chief Isabella has property rights in continuing his employment with the Town of 

Seekonk and other benefits related thereto pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Contract. 

87. The Town’s acts and omissions have deprived Chief Isabella of those property 

rights. 

88. The BOS’s January 18, 2023 pre-termination hearing was meaningless because its 

outcome was pre-ordained and/or the BOS’s bias against Chief Isabella was so severe that it 

undermined the concerns and goals of the hearing.  

89. On January 18, 2023, Chief Isabella was deprived a meaningful opportunity to 

invoke the BOS’s discretion, and thus there was no possibility that a mistaken decision by the BOS 

could have been avoided. 

90. The BOS’s pre-termination proceedings were not constitutionally sufficient under 

the 5th and 14th Amendments to the United States Constitution.  

91.  As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ violation of Chief Isabella’s 

procedural due process rights, Chief Isabella has suffered substantial monetary damages, physical 

and mental injuries, irreparable damages to his reputation and other irreparable harms and 

damages.   

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Chief Isabella requests all damages provable at trial including 

compensatory, consequential, exemplary and punitive damages plus interest, costs and reasonable 

attorney fees, as well as any equitable relief as may be appropriate. 

COUNT IV 

Declaratory Judgment Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201 & M.G.L. c. 231A § 1 et seq. that the 

Defendants have Violated Plaintiff’s Procedural Due Process Rights as Prescribed by 

Article 10 of the Declaration of Rights of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts 

 

92.  Plaintiff restates and incorporates by reference the factual allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1-91 as if fully set forth herein. 
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93.  By engaging in the conduct described above Defendants, acting under color of law, 

knowingly, intentionally, egregiously, arbitrarily, capriciously, corruptly and outrageously 

disregarded the law, violating Plaintiff’s life, liberty and property rights. 

94.  Prior to the January 18, 2023 pre-termination hearing, Chief Isabella was not given 

oral or written notice of any charges against him by the Town.  

95. Prior to the January 18, 2023 pre-termination hearing, Chief Isabella was not given 

an explanation of the Town’s evidence supporting termination.  

96. To date, Chief Isabella has not been provided any of said information by the Town 

and no such charges have been levied against him.  

97. To date, the only reasons that Chief Isabella has been given for his termination is 

that the Town wished to ‘go in a different direction’ with regard to the Chief’s position and that it 

has the authority to do so under the Town Charter.    

98. Plaintiff’s claim that his procedural due process rights were violated are further 

substantiated by the fact that during the January 18, 2023 pre-termination hearing the BOS: 

• Provided no evidence whatsoever that would justify terminating Chief 

Isabella; 

 

• Ignored the overwhelming support, testimony and pleas from the public 

for the Town to retain Chief Isabella as its police Chief; 

 

• Ignored Chief Isabella’s lengthy explanation of the many 

accomplishments and improvements made to and by the Department 

during his tenure; 

 

• Failed to respond to testimony provided by Chief Isabella of other 

Departmental policies and procedures proposed by Chief Isabella to the 

Town’s Administration that were rejected or altogether ignored; and 

 

• Conducted no discussion or deliberation prior to unanimously voting to 

terminate Chief Isabella; and additionally 
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• On January 10, 2023, eight days prior to the pre-termination hearing, 

the Town Administrator was directly quoted by local news media as 

saying “[t]he Board of Selectmen will be voting to rescind the 

appointment of Chief Isabella.” See Exhibit 4 at p. 3 (emphasis added). 

 

99. Chief Isabella has property rights in continuing his employment with the Town of 

Seekonk and other benefits related thereto pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Contract. 

100. The Town’s acts and omissions have deprived Chief Isabella of those property 

rights. 

101. The BOS’s January 18, 2023 pre-termination hearing was meaningless because its 

outcome was pre-ordained and/or the BOS’s bias against Chief Isabella was so severe that it 

undermined the concerns and goals of the hearing.  

102. On January 18, 2023, Chief Isabella was deprived a meaningful opportunity to 

invoke the BOS’s discretion, and thus there was no possibility that a mistaken decision by the BOS 

could have been avoided. 

103. The BOS’s pre-termination proceedings were not constitutionally sufficient under 

the Article 10 of the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights.  

104. As a direct and proximate result of such Defendants’ violation of his constitutional 

rights, Plaintiff, Chief Isabella has suffered substantial monetary damages, physical and mental 

injuries, irreparable damage to his reputation and other irreparable harms and damages.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Chief Isabella requests the Court issue a Declaratory Judgment 

declaring that the Defendants violated Chief Isabella’s rights as prescribed by Article 10 of the 

Massachusetts Constitution (Declaration of Rights); that the Court award all damages provable at 

trial including compensatory, consequential, exemplary and punitive damages plus interest, costs 

and reasonable attorney fees, as well as any equitable relief as may be appropriate. 
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COUNT V 

Award of Attorney’s Fees Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988  

 

105.  Plaintiff restates and incorporates by reference the factual allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1-104 as if fully set forth herein. 

106.  Counts I-III of this Complaint entailed proceedings to enforce Chief Isabella’s civil 

rights within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 1988. 

107.  Chief Isabella is entitled to request an award of reasonable attorney’s fees with 

regard to said fees incurred in the course of this litigation.    

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Chief Isabella requests the Court award him reasonable 

attorney’s fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988.  

COUNT VI 

Breach of Contract against the Defendants 

 

108. Plaintiff restates and incorporates by reference the factual allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1-107 as if fully set forth herein. 

109. Chief Isabella’s Contract with the Town is a valid, binding and enforceable contract 

pursuant to the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, and in which he has duly and 

properly performed all obligations owed to the Town thereunder. 

110. By terminating Chief Isabella without just cause, and by refusing to compensate 

him for all benefits which he is entitled to receive under that Contract, the Defendants have 

materially breached their contractual obligations owed to Chief Isabella pursuant to the Contract. 

111. As a direct and proximate result of the acts and omissions of the Town and/or 

BOS’s material breach of its obligations under the Contract, Chief Isabella has sustained 

substantial monetary damages, physical and mental injuries, reputation damages, as well as other 

irreparable harms and damages. 
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Chief Isabella requests all damages provable at trial including 

compensatory, consequential, exemplary and punitive damages plus interest, costs and reasonable 

attorney fees. 

COUNT VII 

Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing Against the Defendants 

 

112. Plaintiff restates and incorporates by reference the factual allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1-111 as if fully set forth herein. 

113. Chief Isabella’s Contract with the Town is a valid, binding and enforceable contract 

pursuant to the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, and in which he has duly and 

properly performed all obligations owed to the Town thereunder. 

114. Every contract in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts has an implied covenant of 

good faith and fair dealing imputed upon the Parties to the contract.  

115. By terminating Chief Isabella without just cause, and by refusing to compensate 

him for all benefits which he is entitled to receive under that Contract, the Town and BOS have 

materially breached their implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing owed to Chief Isabella. 

116. As a direct and proximate result of the acts and omissions of the Town and/or 

BOS’s material breach of its obligations under the Contract, Chief Isabella has sustained 

substantial monetary damages, physical and mental injuries, reputation damages, as well as other 

irreparable harms and damages. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Chief Isabella requests all damages provable at trial including 

compensatory, consequential, exemplary and punitive damages plus interest, costs and reasonable 

attorney fees. 
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COUNT VIII 

Declaratory Judgment Pursuant to M.G.L. c. 231A § 1 et seq. that the Defendants have 

Violated Plaintiff’s Statutory Rights as Prescribed by M.G.L. c. 41 § 97A. 

 

117.  Plaintiff restates and incorporates by reference the factual allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1-116 as if fully set forth herein. 

118.  M.G.L. c. 41 § 97A provides, in relevant part: 

“In any town which accepts this section there shall be a police department 

established by the selectmen, and such department shall be under the 

supervision of an officer to be known as the chief of police. The selectmen 

of any such town shall appoint a chief of police and such other officers as 

they deem necessary, and fix their compensation, not exceeding, in the 

aggregate, the annual appropriation therefor. In any such town in which 

such appointments are not subject to chapter thirty-one, they shall be made 

annually or for a term of years not exceeding three years, as the selectmen 

shall determine, and the selectmen may remove such chief or other officers 

for cause at any time after a hearing[.]” Id. (emphasis added). 

 

119.  By terminating Chief Isabella without cause, the Town has violated his statutory 

rights prescribed by M.G.L. c. 41 § 97A. 

120. As a direct and proximate result of the acts and omissions of the Town and/or 

BOS’s violation of his statutory rights, Chief Isabella has sustained substantial monetary damages, 

physical and mental injuries, reputation damages, as well as other irreparable harms and damages.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Chief Isabella requests the Court issue a Declaratory Judgment 

declaring that the Defendants violated Chief Isabella’s statutory rights as prescribed by M.G.L. c. 

41 § 97A; that the Court award all damages provable at trial including compensatory, 

consequential, exemplary and punitive damages plus interest, costs and reasonable attorney fees, 

as well as any equitable relief as may be appropriate. 

JURY DEMAND 

 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all counts so triable and designates Eric S. 

Brainsky as his Trial Counsel(s). 
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Respectfully Submitted 

        

       Plaintiff, 

 

       DEAN ISABELLA 

 

       By and through his attorneys,  

 

Dated:  January 19, 2023 

       /s/ Eric S. Brainsky  _______  

       Eric S. Brainsky, Esq. (BBO#663136) 

       Michael E. Levinson, Esq. (BBO#666108) 

       C. Beau Akers, Esq. (BBO#705084) 

       Brainsky Levinson, LLC 

       1543 Fall River Avenue, Suite 1 

       Seekonk, MA 02771     

       Ph: (508) 557-1910 

       Fax: (508) 557-1905 

       ebrainsky@brainskylevinson.com 

       mlevinson@brainskylevinson.com  

       cbeauakers@brainskylevinson.com  
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